1978

Parowan Pumpers Association, Cedar Valley Pumpers Association, And Beryl Bumpers Association v. Public Service Commission of Utah, Milly O. Bernard, Olof E. Zundel, And Kenneth Rigtrup (As Successor To Joseph C. Foley), Commissioners of The Public Service Commission of Utah And California-Pacific Utilities Company, A Corporation v. Public Service Commission of Utah, Case No. 15144 Milly O. Bernard, Olof E.

NATURE OF THE CASE

This Case No. 76-023-04 before the Utah Public Service Commission, involves a pass-through rate increase sought by California-Pacific Utilities Company. It seeks to recover from its 9,000 Cedar City District customers additional annual revenues of \$856,910 per year extending over the next 45 years for a total of \$32,000,000.

This increase arises out of an alleged agreement whereby California-Pacific is to pay Utah Power and Light Company the above annual sum in amortizing a \$4,500,000 investment by Utah Power and Light in the construction of a transmission line and substation to be owned by Utah Power and Light, but to be used by both utilities.

Petitioners are 300 irrigation farmers around Parowan, Cedar City and Beryl who require electricity to operate their irrigation pumps.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE BY THE
PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF UTAH

The Commission, even though Finding that the Utah Power and Light Company-California-Pacific Utilities Company agreement was not in the best public interest, nevertheless allowed 53.03% of the requested \$856,910, or \$453,910 annually to be added to the consumers' electricity billings.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Protestants-Petitioners seek to have the Commission's Order modified so as to disallow any increase in rates in Case No. 76-023-04 arising out of the Utah Power and Light-Cal-Pac Agreement. Protestants seek no relief on the other three Cases, Nos. 76-023-01, 02 and 03.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioners limit their appeal to issues involving the validity of the Utah Power & Light - California-Pacific Agreement (Ex. 5). California-Pacific on the other hand raises issues concerning the propriety of allowing 53.03% of the total \$856,910 requested revenue. Therefore Petitioners must supplement Cal-Pac's Statement of Facts with additional facts, and by a restatement of some of California-Pacific's facts.

Reference to the Transcript of the testimony will be in the same manner as in the California-Pacific brief, i.e., by reference to the hearing date and appropriate page.

This proceeding before the Public Service Commission was a consolidation hearing involving four different pass-through applications to recover from the consumers certain costs incurred by the company:

No. 76-023-01 for \$340,049 in increased costs imposed by Utah Power and Light, because of a fuel adjustment increase, and effecting a 9.018% increase in rates (Ex. 1, R. 253)

No. 76-023-02 for a surcharge to recover increased power costs paid to Utah Power and Light, effecting a 4.167% increase in rates. (Ex. 2, R. 254)

No. 76-023-03 sought an increase in revenue of \$708,694 to cover increased wholesale power costs paid to Utah Power

and Light Company and effecting an 18.618% rate increase.
(Ex. 3, R. 255)

Case No. 76-023-04, the only one now before this Court on appeal, involved an annual increase of \$870,560 to recover fixed costs charged by Utah Power and Light to recover its investment in the construction of a 230 K.V. transmission line with substation, and resulted in a 22.87% increase in rates. (Ex. 4, R. 256)

These pass-through rate increases are not general rate increases involving the determination of rates of return, cost of service studies or any of the other involved rate concepts found in the general rate increases. Rather, they merely pass on to the consumers the specific added costs of operation upon the theory that there will be no increment of gain included in such cost which could increase the return to the Company. (T. 11/2, R. 175)
Cal-Pac has had no general rate increase in Utah but has had several previous pass-through increases.

California-Pacific Utilities Company, is a multi-purpose company furnishing telephone, gas, water, and electric utilities service in the States of California, Nevada, Oregon and Utah. The operation in Utah is confined to the electric utilities service offered to the approximate 9,000 consumers in the Cedar City District and a much smaller number of consumers in the Kanab area. The portion of the Company's plant and operations in Utah

is less than ten percent (10%). (Ex. 1 J, R. 253)

Cal-Pac's Cedar City District's operations involve distribution of electric power to Cedar City in which there are approximately 6,000 consumers and to furnishing one or two other small towns plus the 300 or more farmers and ranchers who irrigate by pumping water out of the ground through electric pumps. (T. 11/1, pp. 32-50) (Ex 4 C, R. 256)

In 1962 Cal-Pac, Utah Power and Light hereinafter designated UP&L and the United States Bureau of Reclamation hereinafter referred to as the Bureau, entered into a wheeling agreement (Ex. 10, R. 293-326) whereby both Cal-Pac and UP&L agreed to transmit power to the Bureau's preference customers throughout the central part of the state, including the Cedar City District, for a flat sum of \$4.20 per kilowatt year. The prime consideration for this agreement was the Bureau's agreement not to construct a Federal transmission system throughout the area. Cal-Pac in 1960 had constructed a 138 K.V. transmission line from the Beaver-Iron County line north through Beaver and Sevier to Sigurd which it wanted to protect. (Ex. 9, R. 291) (T. 9/23, pp. 26,27)

Under the wheeling agreement with the Bureau, (Ex. 10, R. 292) Cal-Pac was obligated to wheel through its system all power requirements of the various preference customers of the Bureau. These customers included the

Dixie Rural Electric Association operating in Washington County, St. George City in Washington County, the towns of Hurricane, Parowan, Paragonah, and Escalante Valley Electric Association, a rural electric cooperative operating in Iron County. (T. 9/23, pp. 88, 89, 95-97) (Ex. 9, R. 291) Over the same 138 K.V. line Cal-Pac also served its customers in the Cedar City District.

Beginning in 1972 Cal-Pac and UP&L undertook investigations to determine the feasibility of constructing a larger line from Sigurd down to Cedar City to take the place of the existing 138 K.V. line. (T. 11/2, pp. 165, 166) Considerable study was undertaken to determine the future needs of the area, both as to wheeling customers and as to Cal-Pac's own customers. (T. 11/2, pp. 166) In furtherance thereof UP&L issued a letter to Cal-Pac dated December 6, 1972 (Ex. 48, R. 470) wherein the estimated costs of the Sigurd to Iron County, line would be \$2,720,000, the line from Iron County to Cedar City would be \$2,925,000 and the termination substation at Sigurd would cost approximately \$720,000. Should Cal-Pac not purchase all of its power requirements from Utah, nevertheless it would reimburse Utah for all of the fixed costs of the Sigurd termination and would continue to pay the fixed annual costs for a period of 45 years.

Thereafter on March 21, 1973 UP&L gave another letter of intent to which Cal-Pac agreed on March 23,

1973. (Ex. 49, R. 472-475) This letter differed in some respects from the earlier letter. It provided: (a) for a location of the Sigurd line thus placing the southern terminal at the Beaver County-Iron County line; (b) for Cal-Pac to pay UP&L 1/12th of its annual fixed charges on the Sigurd to Iron County line for a period of 45 years; (c) for a definition of fixed charges; (d) that should Cal-Pac terminate its firm power purchases from UP&L, it should nevertheless continue to pay annually to UP&L the same fixed annual charges for the remainder of the 45 year period, or it could elect to pay off the entire unpaid investment; and (e) that the final agreement to be entered into would be subject to the approval of regulatory authorities having jurisdiction.

The final agreement (Ex. 5, 28, R. 259-270, 366-376) was signed March 26, 1975. This agreement in substance provided that the fixed charges would be payable on a monthly basis for the next 45 years, that at the end of that time UP&L would continue to own the transmission line, that at any time when Cal-Pac elected to discontinue service, it nevertheless would still be obligated to pay the entire 45 years of fixed charges, that UP&L had the right to tap into the line and if it did so there would be a negotiated adjustment in the fixed charges, and that by the formula used to determine the fixed charges UP&L would realize a 9.5% return on its investment, would have

taxes paid, would have the maintenance and operating costs paid for and would place the line in its own rate base. (T. 8/10, p. 66)

Beginning with the earlier negotiations in 1972 and continuing on to the culmination, through signing, of the final agreement Cal-Pac gave no notice or other information to the consumers of the pending negotiation and the finalizing of the agreement. At no time did Cal-Pac present either the letters of intent or the final agreement to the Utah Public Service Commission for its consideration and review. (T. 8/24, p. 20)

Cal-Pac in explaining why it entered into the agreement with UP&L indicated that it primarily was so that it would not have to make any capital investment, it having just completed its own partial segment of the proposed line, to-wit; the line from the Beaver-Iron County line down to the town of Parowan for a cost of \$2,200,000. (T. 9/24, p. 19)

The formula finally implemented by Cal-Pac and UP&L (Ex. 4, R. 256 letter dated August 5, 1976) was based upon an investment of \$4,461,000 for the 230 K.V. line and \$424,000 for one-half of the termination at the Sigurd substation, (less investment tax credits). The total of the fixed charges to be paid by the consumers in this pass-through over the 45 year period if the full \$861,000 were paid would be 32,000,000, based upon the \$4,850,000 in-

vestment. At no time, even upon completion of all the payments would Cal-Pac own the transmission line or the termination facilities at Sigurd. (Ex. 5) The full amount of the annual charges is to be passed on to the consumers.

Various determinations were made as to the relative and comparative cost under various alternatives. If the money were borrowed by California-Pacific then the total would only be \$23,000,000, the annual payments would begin at \$781,750 and reduce down to \$253,750 per year. (Ex. 47) Mr. Workman testified that if California-Pacific owned the line the first five years would cost 6.6 million dollars less than under the present arrangement. (T. 11/2, p. 150) Although there was testimony that at the time of construction in 1975 the company could not afford to build the line, that condition was apparently temporary. Mr. Workman testified that the line could be financed now. (T. 11/2, pp. 148, 149) There is no evidence that the company could not have built the line in 1973 when the first letter of intent was agreed to by the utilities.

The use of the 230 K.V. line is divided on a kilowatt hour bases so that 53.06% of the useage is for the Cal-Pac consumers and 46.97% useage for the Bureau of Reclamation wheeling customers. (Ex. 43, R. 448) (R. 103-Findings of Fact on Third Tentative Order)

Although California-Pacific filed the agreement with the Federal Power Commission there is no action by said Commission constituting consideration or approval thereof. (Ex. 31, R. 380-382)

The Protestants in this matter have invested substantially in extensive pumping and irrigation systems throughout the Cedar City District area in reliance upon the electric service. They will be substantially hurt by the increased rates. (T. 11/1, pp. 32-50)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE ALLEGED AGREEMENT BETWEEN CAL-PAC
AND UP&L IS VOID AND CAN NOT BE USED
TO INCREASE RATES.

A. Neither Cal-Pac nor UP&L have complied with
Section 54-4-30 U.C.A.

Section 54-4-30 U.C.A. provides as follows:

"Acquiring Properties of Like Utility Only on Consent of Commission. - Hereafter no public utility shall acquire by lease, purchase or otherwise the plants, facilities, equipment or properties of any other public utility engaged in the same general line of business in this state, without the consent and approval of the public utility commission. Such consent shall be given only after investigation and hearing and finding that said purchase, lease or acquisition of said plants, equipment, facilities and properties will be in the public interest."

The above section unequivocally requires a public utility to obtain the consent of the Public Service Commission before entering into leases or other types of arrangements whereby it either leases or acquires the plant or properties of another public utility. The evidence is clear (T. 8/24, p. 20) that, neither the original letters of intent nor the final agreement were ever presented to the Commission for consideration. Furthermore the Commission has so determined in Finding No. 9 (R. 231):

"9. The contract between Utah Power and Light and California-Pacific Utilities Company has never been submitted to the Utah Public Service Commission for its approval."

Where a statute prohibits the performance of a bargain, then such bargain is illegal. See Restatement of Contracts, para. 580:

"Bargain in Violation of a Statute

"1. Any bargain is illegal if either the formation or performance thereof is prohibited by constitution or statute.

"2. Legislative intent to prohibit the formation of a bargain, or an act essential for its performance, may be manifested by (a) express prohibition, or (c) imposing a penalty for doing an act that is essential for the performance thereof, or (d) requiring a license, inspection or something similar from persons making such bargains or doing acts essential for their performance, or (e) other terms of a statute interpreted in the light of the purpose of its enactment."

The legislative intent is clear in the Utah statute:

"Such consent shall be given only after investigation and hearing and Finding that said purchase, lease or acquisition of said plants, equipment, facilities will be in the public interest."

Section 54-7-25 U.C.A. provides for various monetary penalties in the event a utility fails to comply with an provision of Title 54. Thus under the Restatement such a penalty is further indication of the illegality of the agreement. See also Shasta County vs. Moody, 265 Pac. 1032 (Ca.

However perhaps as important a consideration as can be found is the express requirement that such an agreement be presented to the Commission so that the Commission can determine whether or not it is in the best public interest. The consumers of Cal-Pac, including the various irrigation pumpers users, are entirely at the mercy of the company in this pass-through type of a rate increase. The consumers have no knowledge or information of the agreement, the burden of which is going to be placed squarely 100% upon their shoulders. Thus reliance upon the statute is the only protection which they have. Failure to comply with the statute is thus more than a mere technicality to Petitioners. By the time the pass-through rate hearing comes into focus, the alleged agreement entered into either in 1972 through the letter of intent, or in 1975 through the formalized document, has long since been executed. There has been no hearing at which the Protestants can examine or object to the agreement.

In this case the importance of compliance with the statute is even more clearly evidenced by the Commission's Finding to the effect that the Agreement is not in the public interest. The Commission found in Finding 18:

"The contract between Utah Power and Light and California-Pacific is not in the best interest of the customers of California-Pacific Utilities."

The general rule relating to the violation of a statutory prohibition is set forth in 17 Am Jur 2d Para. 167, Contracts:

"It is the prevailing rule that where a statute designed for the protection of the public prohibits in express terms the making of a contract, such contract is absolutely void whether the thing contracted for is malum in se or merely malum prohibitum."

. . .

"It is fundamental that no contract between individuals can make it lawful to do that which a statute positively commands shall not be done."

We suggest also that the language of this court in Silver Beehive Telephone Company vs. Public Service Commission of Utah, 30 Utah 2d 44, 512 P.2d 1327 is appropriate:

"We are cognizant of the prerogatives of the Commission in general supervision of public utility services, and of its presumed expertise in doing so. Nevertheless, inasmuch as the Public Utilities Act provides for an appeal to this court, it must be assumed that it was not intended to be merely perfunctory, but was intended to be a substantial and meaningful review for the purpose of giving correction and guidance when it appears that the actions of the Commission are so clearly inconsistent

with its purpose of regulating utilities on behalf of the public interest and the utility involved that they transgress the tolerable limits of reason."

The statute is extremely clear in stating that (a) no utility shall lease any facilities without the consent and approval of the Commission; and (b) that such consent shall only be given after investigation and a hearing and finding that the lease "will be in the public interest".

The Commission has found as a fact that the agreement was not submitted to the Commission and now finds that the agreement is not in the public interest. There can be no more clear violation of the regulatory concept, of the legislative intent and of the principles enunciated by this Court than in this particular situation.

B. Section 54-4-26 U.C.A. has also been violated by Cal-Pac and UP&L. This section provides:

"Every public utility when ordered by the Commission shall, before entering into any contract for construction work or for the purchase of new facilities or with respect to any other expenditures submit such proposed contract, purchase or other expenditure to the commission for its approval."

See also Lincoln Highway Realty vs. State of New Jersey, 128 Super 35, 1974, wherein the court further supports the general rule in stating:

"By requiring his (State Treasurer) approval the lawmakers clearly intend to protect the public interest by drawing upon the judgment of the state treasurer in validating the transaction

only upon his watchful concurrence in the judgment of the director. This condition is not merely a matter of form. Its fulfillment is vital to the very concept of any power in the director to contract for the acquisition of property except after a public solicitation of bids."

Under Section 54-4-26 the Commission has under Regulation A 67-05-95 ordered every public utility to submit to the Commission any contract involving the construction of facilities, purchase or disposal of assets having a value of over 25% of total Utah plant, prior to being placed into effect. This agreement is governed by the Regulation.

The total utility plant of Cal-Pac in the Cedar City District is \$12,629,525; the total cost of the investment is \$4,500,000 which when amortized over the 45 year period increases to \$32,000,000. Thus the contract is of sufficient size, (it exceeds 25% of the plant investment in Utah) to have been presented to this Commission for approval before taking effect. (Ex. 1-I, R. 253)

Certainly the very concept of public utility regulation contemplates protection of the public (the consumers) from unreasonable and wrongful actions of the utilities. This can be no more evident than in the very complicated rate cases coming before the commission and even more importantly in this rate case in which the consumer is going to bear 100% of the burden imposed on him by the contract entered into between two utilities over which the consumer has no control and of which the con-

sumer has no information or notice. Where the terms of the contract are so unreasonable and the necessity of the contract itself is questionable, the disadvantage to which the consumer is placed in this case is substantial.

California-Pacific in its brief complains that the Commission has only allowed 53% of the annual charge to be placed on the shoulders of the 9,000 consumers and has left no means by which to recoup the additional \$400,000 per year. This argument has little substance. Obviously the entire amount is wrongfully assessed since it is based upon an illegal contract. However, assuming that even a portion of the increase is proper, obviously the utility has other ways of raising the additional money. Any time a utility seeks a rate increase there is the possibility that it will not obtain the complete relief that it claims. In such cases the utility may go to the investors or the stockholders, may renegotiate the agreement, seek Commission or judicial relief or borrow the funds. These alternatives are now available. (T. 11/2, pp. 148, 150) The Commission has jurisdiction over Utah Power and Light and California-Pacific and could readily within its jurisdiction determine what should be done in this instance. That is not for Protestants to urge at this point.

In summary, we can look at an earlier California case in which two electric utilities entered into a contract to sell properties one to the other without obtain-

ing approval of the Utilities Commission required by statute. The Court in striking down the contract stated:

"It needs no citation of authority to the effect that said statute was enacted primarily in behalf of the public rather than the owners of public utilities. It is a settled rule that a contract will not be enforced if the contract is in violation of the provisions of a statute enacted for the protection of the public.

. . .

"It will be noted that the language of the Public Utilities Act is not only prohibitory, but a penalty is provided for violations thereof. Such a statute must be construed as being prohibitory and a contract made in contravention of the terms thereof is void and unenforceable." Napa Valley Electric Co. vs. Calistoga Electric Co., 176 Pac. 699 (Calif. 1918)

"Futhermore, the law is well settled that where a statute provides a penalty for an act, a contract founded on such an act is void, although the statute does not pronounce it void, nor expressly prohibit it." Shasta County vs. Moody, supra

POINT II

THE ALLEGED AGREEMENT LACKS PROPER CONTRACT ELEMENTS.

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