1978

Parowan Pumpers Association, Cedar Valley Pumpers Association, And Beryl Bumpers Association v. Public Service Commission of Utah, Milly O. Bernard, Olof E. Zundel, And Kenneth Rigtrup (As Successor To Joseph C. Foley), Commissioners of The Public Service Commission of Utah And California-Pacific Utilities Company, A Corporation v. Public Service Commission of Utah, Case No. 15144 Milly O. Bernard, Olof E.

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COMMISSION'S REPORT AND ORDER DISALLOWING 46.97% OF THE EXPENSES OF THE 230-KV TRANSMISSION LINE RESULTS IN CONFISCATORY RATES IN VIOLATION OF CAL-PAC'S RIGHTS UNDER THE CONSTITUTIONS OF THE UNITED STATES AND OF THE STATE OF UTAH.

Cal Pac's Application in Case No. 76-023-04 seeks an increase in rates to recover an actual operating expense incurred for UP&L's extension of its transmission line facilities for service to Cal-Pac. An increase in rates as requested would not increase the earnings of the utility but would simply allow it to maintain its then present level of earnings. The evidence showed that as at the time of the hearing, the Company would be able to continue to earn 7.71 percent on rate base and 8.26 percent on common equity if it were allowed to increase its rates to offset the transmission line expenses (Tr. 11/3, Pages 120-133).

The effect of the Commission's Report and Order is to require Cal-Pac to provide electric utility service in Washington and Iron Counties at rates which will reduce its rate of return on its utility investment from 7.71 percent to 3.63 percent. The Commission has made no findings in this case with respect to the financial effect of its Order but would certainly recognize that a return on equity of 3.63 percent is not compensatory. On October 22, 1976, during a recess in the hearings in this case, the Commission issued an Order in another Cal-Pac rate case approving a return on equity of 13 percent and a return on rate base of 9.5 percent (Exhibit 44, R. 449-461, Tr. 11/2, Page 123). [At the time of the hearing the authorized rate of return on common equity for Cal-Pac's sister utility, Utah Power & Light Company, was 16 percent.]

It is an established principal of utility law recognized in this and all other jurisdictions that if a public utility is to be permitted to survive as such and to render efficient service to the consuming public, it must have adequate and compensatory rates. In *Utah Copper Company v. Public Utilities Commission*, 59 Utah 191, 203 Pac. 627 (1921) the Court said:

"In this connection it may also properly be said that the law contemplates that the serving utilities, burdened as they are and as they should be with the duty of rendering efficient service to the public, are entitled to earn a fair return or income from the property used in successful and economical operations."

The issue presented by the Commission's Order in this case was considered by the Utah Supreme Court in *Logan City v. Public Utilities Commission of Utah*, 77 Utah 442, 269 Pac. 1006. In that case the Court concluded that a rate of return of 2.37 percent was unreasonable and inadequate as a matter of law and that to require the utility to render service at that rate of return was confiscatory. To this point the Court said:

(77 Utah 442, 449)

“... the cases hold, without exception, that rates yielding so low a rate of return as here are not adequate or reasonable. *It is well settled that each rate should be compensatory, and that a utility cannot be required to perform service at a rate which is confiscatory.* *Smyth v. Ames*, 169, U.S. 446, 18 S. Ct. 418 L. Ed. 819.”

The uncontroverted evidence in this case shows that the operating expense for transmission line construction was absolutely essential to continued service. There are no findings in the Report and Order nor is there evidence which suggests that the Company had any alternative except to obtain increased transmission line capacity. The Commission's Report and Order disallows recovery of the expense from the ratepayers and makes no provision for recovery of the same from any other source. The Order had the necessary and inevitable effect of compelling the utility to provide its utility services at confiscatory rates.

POINT II

THE ORDER DISALLOWING THE TRANSMISSION LINE EXPENSE IS CONTRARY TO LAW IN THAT THE COMMISSION HAS EXCEEDED ITS STATUTORY POWER FOR REVIEW OF UTILITY EXPENSES.

This Court has previously considered and decided the boundaries of the rate-making power which the Commission may exercise with respect to the allowance or disallowance of expenditures made by a utility in the course of conducting its business. *Logan City v. Public Utilities Commission of Utah*, 77 Utah 442, 269 Pac. 1006 (1931). In 1931 Logan City, a municipal corporation, brought a proceeding against the Commission and The Mountain State Telephone and Telegraph Company to review a rate increase granted to the Telephone Company for service in its Logan exchange. The City's challenge included a contention that certain expenses occasioned by the decision of Mountain Bell to switch to an “interior block system” of telephone poles while still under contract with the City for half the cost of maintenance

electric poles owned by the City, were unnecessary. In holding that the Commission could not lawfully interfere with utility management under guise of rate regulation, the Court said:

(77 Utah 442, 447)

"The location and manner of placing the poles for the distributing system is essentially a matter of business management of the utility which should not be interfered with by the commission unless it is made to appear that the policy and consequent expenditure is actuated by bad faith, or involves dishonesty, wastefulness, or gross inefficiency. There is nothing of this kind either alleged in the petition or disclosed in the record. The management apparently proceeded in good faith and believed the interior block system was best suited to serve its purposes. Whether this method of bettering its system was most economical or efficient was a matter within the sound discretion of the management. It is well settled that public commissions cannot, under guise of rate regulation, take into their hands the management of utility properties or unreasonably interfere with the right of the management. *Monroe Gas Light & Fuel Co. v. Michigan Public Utilities Comm.* (D.C.) 11 F. (2d) 319; *State Public Utilities Comm. v. Springfield Gas & Elec. Co.*, 291 111. 209, 125 N.E. 891; *Pacific Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Whitcomb* (D.C.) 12 F. (2d) 279, affirmed in 276 U.S. 97, 48 S. Ct. 223, 72 L. Ed. 483." (Emphasis added.)

It is not the contention of Cal-Pac that the Commission is bound to allow the pass through of any and all expenses which a utility may incur. The Commission's authority to regulate rates includes the power to review expenditures and to a limited extent to "interfere" with management by disallowing expenditures for rate purposes. This Court in *Logan City* defined the limits of Commission authority to disallow utility expenses by defining explicitly and exclusively those circumstances which warrant Commission intervention. Only where the expense is incurred in *bad faith* or involves *dishonesty, wastefulness, or "gross" inefficiency*, is there warrant for expense disallowance in rate regulation.

In *State of Missouri, ex rel. Southwestern Bell Telephone Co. v. Public Service Commission of Missouri*, 262 U.S. 276, 43 S. Ct. 544, the United States Supreme Court considered the authority of a state regulatory commission to disallow public utility operating expenses. The following language from the court's opinion is pertinent to the case now before the Court:

(43 S. Ct. 544, 547)

"There is nothing to indicate *bad faith*. So far as appears, plaintiff in error's board of directors has exercised a proper discretion about this matter requiring business judgment. It must never be forgotten that, while the state may regulate with a view to enforcing reasonable rates and charges, it is not the owner of the property of public utility companies, and is not clothed with the general power of management in-

cident to ownership. The applicable general rule is well expressed in *States Public Utilities Commission ex rel. Springfield v. Springfield Gas & Electric Co.*, 201 Ill. 209, 234, 125 N.E. 891, 901:

‘The commission is not the financial manager of the corporation, and it is not empowered to substitute its judgment for that of the directors of the Corporation; *nor can it ignore items charged by the utility as operating expenses, unless there is an abuse of discretion in that regard by the corporate officers.*’ (Emphasis added.)

The roots of the holding in the *Logan City* case are derived from the Utah Public Utility Act. Ever since March 8, 1917, the effective date of an “act creating a Public Utilities Commission” and “prescribing the duties of the Commission and the duties of public utilities.” (Laws of Utah 1917, Ch. 47), there has been in effect with minor changes the following section of the Act:

“Every public utility when ordered by the commission shall, before entering in any contract for construction work or for the purchase of new facilities *or with respect to any other expenditures*, submit such proposed contract, purchase or other expenditure to the commission for its approval; and, *if the commission finds that any such proposed contract, purchase or other expenditure diverts, directly or indirectly, the funds of such public utility to any of its officers or stockholders or to any corporation in which they are interested, or is not proposed in good faith for the economic benefit of such public utility*, the commission shall withhold its approval of such contract, purchase or other expenditure, and may order other contracts, purchases or expenditures in lieu thereof for the legitimate purposes and *economic welfare* of such public utility.” (Emphasis added.)

(Utah Code Ann. §54-4-26; CP. Laws of Utah 1917, Ch. 47, Art. 4§22.)

In *Bamberger Electric Railroad Co. v. Public Utilities Commission*, 59 Utah 351, 204 P. 314 this Court considered the scope of the Commission’s authority under another provision of the Public Utility Act, and held:

(59 Utah 351, 364)

“It needs no citation of authority that where a *specific power is conferred by statute upon a tribunal, board, or commission with limited powers, the powers are limited to such as are specifically mentioned.*” (Emphasis added.)

Frick, Justice, then reasoned that to hold otherwise would be to make an “autocrat of a utilities commission” allowing it to make whatever order it might under the “guise” of whatever more general statutory language was available. This Court again cited and applied the same

rule of construction in *Union Pacific Railroad Co. v. Public Service Commission*, 103 Utah 186, 134 P. 2d 469, 474 (1943).

Section 54-4-26 describes the limits of the Commission's authority over utility expenditures and any more expansive view of the Commission's power is contrary to the legislative delegation. The limits set forth in the *Logan City* case are consistent with the rule of statutory construction enunciated in the *Bamberger* case and followed in the *Union Pacific* case. The legislature has granted general power to the Commission to regulate public utility rates and charges for "unreasonableness." (See U.C.A. §54-3-1 and 54-4-4.) The legislature has also granted rather general power to "supervise" public utilities. (See U.C.A. §54-4-1.) However, as is indicated by §54-4-26, the power of supervision or regulation *with respect to expenses*, whether in a rate proceeding or otherwise, is specifically circumscribed, i.e., the expense is to be allowed unless it "diverts, directly or indirectly, the funds of such public utility to any of its officers or stockholders or to any corporation in which they are interested, or is not proposed in good faith for the economic benefit of such public utility."

The record is devoid of any evidence of self-dealing or bad faith. As could be expected on that state of the record, the Commission's findings are conspicuously lacking any reference to self-dealing or bad faith. Absent such evidence and absent such findings, there is no basis for a denial of any portion of the requested expense pass through.

It appears to have been the view of the Commission that since the Bureau's wheeling demands caused Cal-Pac's need for transmission capacity to be incurred both sooner and in a larger amount than would have been necessary solely for service to its electric customers, the Bureau ought to bear a share of the expense for the new line and that if Cal-Pac could not recover such expense from the Bureau, it should bear the expense itself. That view completely ignores the fact that the Wheeling Agreement does not allow for an increase in the wheeling rate but that it was entered into by management in good faith and for the economic benefit of the utility and its customers and that the Agreement has in fact contributed substantial benefits to Cal-Pac and to its electric customers. Over the fifteen year period that the Agreement has been in operation subsequent wheeling revenues have been paid to Cal-Pac. That these revenues resulted in benefits to Cal-Pac customers is evidenced by the fact that over a

period of many years those customers did not pay a single rate increase and enjoyed several rate reductions.

The essence of the 1962 Agreement between Cal-Pac and the Bureau may aptly be characterized as a sale or commitment of a portion of the transmission capacity of the 138-KV line. The consideration for the commitment of that capacity was the addition of substantial current revenue at little additional current expense and the benefits of avoiding erosion of its service area by duplication of transmission line capacity which would have been associated with the construction of the "all federal" transmission system in Washington and Iron Counties.

To conclude in 1977 that the benefits received under the Wheeling Agreement from 1962 are not commensurate with the burdens of the Agreement and/or that the management decision to enter into the Agreement was imprudent, and on that basis to disallow current and future expenses for new transmission capacity is beyond the limits of the statutory powers of the Commission. There is no evidence that the Agreement was made in bad faith or for dishonest reasons. There is a complete absence of any showing in the evidence that the arrangement was or is now "wasteful" or "grossly inefficient". It was error for the Commission to require Cal-Pac to absorb any portion of the expense of the 230-KV line.

POINT III

THE COMMISSION'S ORDER IS NOT SUPPORTED BY NECESSARY FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW OR BY ANY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

It is fundamental that administrative agencies in the exercise of their quasi judicial functions must present sufficient support for their decisions that a court may exercise its powers of review. Although form is not as important as substance in determining the sufficiency of an order, the decision of the administrative agency must provide the basic statement of fact and ultimate conclusions derived therefrom which support the decision. The Public Utility Act contemplates that decisions of the Commission shall be based upon written Findings of Fact (§54-7-12, 16, U.C.A. 1953). The Utah Supreme Court has recognized the obvious necessity for adequate Findings of Fact as a basis for administrative orders. *Salt Lake City v. Utah Light and Traction Co.*, 52 Utah 210, 173 Pac. 556. Referring to the basic requirement for findings of fact, the Court in the *Utah Light and Traction* case said:

(52 Utah 210, 226)

“... [T]he commission should be careful to make proper findings respecting the material ultimate facts upon which an order is based. . . .”

The decision of the Commission in the case at bar has absolutely no foundation in the Findings of Fact. (See Report and Order, R. 228-233.)

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